

ECONOMIC ENHANCEMENT THROUGH INFRASTRUCTURE STEWARDSHIP

# PAVEMENT EVALUATION USING A PORTABLE LIGHTWEIGHT DEFLECTOMETER

SESH COMMURI, PH.D. Musharraf Zaman, Ph.D., P.E. Fares Beainy Dharamveer Singh Moeen Nazari Syed Imran Manik Barman

OTCREOS11.1-14-F

Oklahoma Transportation Center 2601 Liberty Parkway, Suite 110 Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 Phone: 405.732.6580 Fax: 405.732.6586 www.oktc.org

#### DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

## **TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

1. REPORT NO. OTCREOS11.1-14-F	2. GOVERNMENT ACCESSION NO.	3. RECIPIENTS CATALOG NO.			
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE		5. REPORT DATE			
Pavement Evaluation Using a	a Portable Lightweight	December 31, 2012			
Deflectometer	<u> </u>	6. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION CODE			
7. AUTHOR(S)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT			
Sesh Commuri, Musharraf Za	aman, Fares Beainy,				
Dharamveer Singh, Moeen N	lazari, Syed Imran, Manik				
Barman	-				
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND	ADDRESS	10. WORK UNIT NO.			
The University of Oklahoma					
110 W. Boyd Street, DEH 43	2	11. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.			
Norman, Oklahoma 73019		DTRT06-G-0016			
12. SPONSORING AGENCY NAME AND ADDRI	ESS	13. TYPE OF REPORT AND PERIOD COVERED			
Oklahoma Transportation Ce	enter	Final			
(Fiscal) 201 ATRC Stillwate	er. OK 74078	October 01, 2011-December 31,			
(Technical) 2601 Liberty Parl	kway Suite 110	2012			
Midwest City OK 73110	integy, conterine	14. SPONSORING AGENCY CODE			
15. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES					
University Transportation Ce	enter				
16. ABSTRACT					
The use of Zorn ZFG-300	Du portable Lightweight L	periectometer (LVVD) in the in-situ			
assessment of pavement qu	uality was investigated in	this research. A lower load and a			
shorter load pulse duration	n are used in a LWD a	as compared to a Falling Weight			
Deflectometer (FWD). LWD	s are ideally suited for th	ne structural evaluation of a single			
pavement layer at a time. LV	VDs could serve as a cost	effective, non-destructive, in-situ test			
method for the evaluation of	the mechanistic properties	of the pavement and help to bridge			
the gap between the design a	and the construction of the	pavements			
The performance of the Zor	m ZEG3000 LWD device in	n measuring the stiffness of asphalt			
layer was studied during con	struction of full donth aspha	alt payomonts. While it was observed			
that the Zerre ZEC 2000 LM		at pavements. While it was observed			
that the zorn ZFG-3000 LW	D was easy to use and abi	e to determine the general trends in			
increasing/decreasing stiffne	ess of the asphalt pavement	nt layer, the researchers found very			
little correlation between the	LWD measured modulus a	and the density of the asphalt mat at			
the test locations as detern	nined from roadway cores.	. Further, very little correlation was			
observed between the LWD	measured modulus and the	e dynamic modulus of the pavement			
at the test locations. The	LWD measurements also	did not appear to depend on any			
pavement parameters such a	as mix type and gradation.	lift thickness, total asphalt pavement			
thickness, and type of const	ndings, it is concluded that the Zorn				
ZEC-3000 LWD is not suitab	ss of asphalt pavements and for use				
in Quality Assurance of page	mente				
17. KEY WORDS	18. DISTRIBUTION STATEM	ENT			

Deflectometer, pavement, falling weight, Zorn,	No restrictions. This publication is available at www.oktc.org and from the NTIS.			
19. SECURITY CLASSIF. (OF THIS REPORT) Unrestricted	20. SECURITY CLASSIF. (OF THIS PAGE) Unrestricted	21. NO. OF PAGES <b>46 + COVERS</b>	22. PRICE	

Approximate Conversions to SI Units									
Symbol When you Multiply by To Find Symbol									
in inches 25.40 millimeters mm									
ft feet 0.3048 meters m									
yd	yards	0.9144	meters	m					
, mi	miles	1.609	kilometers	km					
square square									
in²	inches	645.2	millimeters	mm					
ft²	square	0.0929	square	m²					
	leet		meters						
yd²	square yards	0.8361	square meters	m²					
ac	acres	0.4047	hectares	ha					
mi <sup>2</sup>	square	2 590	square	km²					
	miles	2.370	kilometers	km⁴					
		VOLUME							
fluid fl oz 29.57 milliliters mL ounces									
gal	gallons	3.785	liters	L					
cubic cubic ft <sup>3</sup> 0.0283 m <sup>3</sup> feet meters									
yd³	cubic yards	0.7645	cubic meters	m³					
		MASS							
oz	ounces	28.35	grams	g					
lb	pounds	0.4536	kilograms	kg					
т	short tons (2000 lb)	0.907	megagrams	Mg					
	TEMPI	ERATURE	(exact)						
°F	degrees	(°F-32)/1.8	degrees	°C					
	Fahrenheit		Celsius	-					
F	ORCE and	PRESSUR	E or STRE	SS					
lbf	poundforce	4.448	Newtons	N					
lbf/in <sup>2</sup>	poundforce	6.895	kilopascals	kPa					
	per square inch	1	F						
per square men									

Approximate Conversions from SI Units							
Symbol When yo		Multiply by	To Find	Symbol			
know LENGTH							
mm	millimeters	0.0394	inches	in			
m	meters	3.281	feet	ft			
m	meters	1.094	yards	yd			
km	kilometers	0.6214	miles	mi			
		AREA					
square square mm <sup>2</sup> 0.00155 in <sup>2</sup> millimeters inches							
m²	square meters	10.764	square feet	ft²			
m²	square meters	1.196	square yards	yd²			
ha	hectares	2.471	acres	ac			
km²	square kilometers	0.3861	square miles	mi²			
		VOLUME					
mL	milliliters	0.0338	fluid ounces	fl oz			
L	liters	0.2642	gallons	gal			
m³	cubic meters	35.315	cubic feet	ft³			
m³	cubic meters	1.308	cubic yards	yd³			
		MASS					
g	grams	0.0353	ounces	oz			
kg	kilograms	2.205	pounds	lb			
Mg	megagrams	1.1023	short tons (2000 lb)	т			
	TEMPE	RATURE	(exact)				
°C	degrees	9/5+32	degrees	°F			
	Celsius		Fahrenheit				
FC	FORCE and PRESSURE or STRESS						
Ν	Newtons	0.2248	poundforce	lbf			
kPa	kilopascals	0.1450	poundforce	lbf/in <sup>2</sup>			
			per square inch				

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The field demonstration presented in this report would not have been possible without the unparalleled support of Haskell Lemon Construction Company (HLCC), Oklahoma City, Oklahoma and Silver Star Construction Company, Moore, Oklahoma. Access to HLCC's construction sites and equipment as well as their technical staff has been vital to the success of this project. In particular, the authors wish to thank Jay Lemon (Chief Executive Officer, HLCC), Bob Lemon (Chief Operations Officer, HLCC), and Craig Parker (Vice-President, Silver Star Construction Company) for their vision and unqualified support of the research team. Their partnership with OU has been critical for the success of this project.

The authors also wish to acknowledge the financial support of Oklahoma Transportation Center. The financial support and technical partnership with Volvo Construction Equipment (VCE), Shippensburg, PA has been central to the OU's research in Intelligent Compaction. The assistance of Burgess Engineering, Moore, Oklahoma in conducting spot tests for pavement quality is also greatly appreciated.

## Pavement Evaluation Using a Portable Lightweight Deflectometer

### **Research Project**

Sesh Commurit Gerald Tuma Presidential Professor

Musharraf Zaman<sub>tt</sub> David Ross Boyd Professor and Aaron Alexander Professor Associate Dean for Research and Graduate Programs

> Fares Beainy<sub>t</sub> Research Fellow

Dharamveer Singhttt Research Fellow

> Moeen Nazari <sup>+++</sup> Ph. D. Student

Syed Asif Imran<sub>†</sub> Ph. D. Student

Manik Barmanttt Research Fellow

<sup>+</sup>School of Electrical and Computer Engineering The University of Oklahoma 110 W. Boyd, Street, DEH 432 Norman, Oklahoma 73019

<sup>++</sup>College of Engineering The University of Oklahoma 202 W. Boyd, Street, CEC 106 Norman, Oklahoma 73019

\*\*\*School of Civil Engineering and Environmental Sciences
The University of Oklahoma
202 W. Boyd, Street, CEC 334
Norman, Oklahoma 73019

Oklahoma Transportation Center 2601 Liberty Parkway, Suite 110 Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	X
2	. INTRODUCTION	1
	2.1 Related studies in mechanistic properties of pavements	2
	2.2 Background on the Lightweight Deflectometers	3
	2.3 Prior research on the use of LWDs for assessing pavement layers	5
3	. GOALS OF THE PROPOSED RESEARCH	7
4	. RESULTS OF THE RESEARCH PROJECT	9
	4.1 Site Selection	9
	4.2 Initial Demonstration	10
	4.3 Results from Tests on 60th Street in Norman, OK	12
	4.4 Results from Tests on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK	20
5	. SUMMARY OF RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS	28
6	. TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER SUCESSES	30
7	. REFERENCES	31

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Zorn ZFG2000A asphalt tester (Zorn, 2011)4
Figure 2. Components of the LWD (Zorn, 2011)5
Figure 3. Representative LWD test locations at Apple Valley Road Project in Edmond,
ОК11
Figure 4. LWD Testing in progress at Apple Valley Road Project in Edmond, OK 12
Figure 5. Density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt
pavement on 60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK16
Figure 6. Comparison of roadway density and LWD measured modulus at test locations
on base layer of asphalt pavement on 60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK
Figure 7. Density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on second layer of
asphalt pavement on 60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK17
Figure 8. Comparison of roadway density and LWD measured modulus at test locations
on second layer of asphalt pavement on 60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK
Figure 9. LWD Modulus of asphalt pavement at test locations on Layer 1 and Layer 2 of
60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK
60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK
60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK
<ul> <li>60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK</li></ul>
60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.       18         Figure 10. Comparison of LWD modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the asphalt base of 60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.       18         Figure 11. Comparison of LWD modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on asphalt overlay on 60 <sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.       19         Figure 12. Comparison between roadway core density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.       24         Figure 13. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.       24         Figure 14. Comparison between roadway core density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.       24
<ul> <li>60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.</li> <li>Figure 10. Comparison of LWD modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the asphalt base of 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.</li> <li>Figure 11. Comparison of LWD modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on asphalt overlay on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.</li> <li>Figure 12. Comparison between roadway core density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.</li> <li>Figure 13. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.</li> <li>Figure 14. Comparison between roadway core density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.</li> </ul>

Figure 15. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test
locations on second layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond,
OK25
Figure 16. Comparison between roadway density and LWD measured modulus at test
locations on surface layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond,
ОК26
Figure 17. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test
locations on surface layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond,
OK27
Figure 18. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and FWD backcalculated
modulus at test locations on surface layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley
Road in Edmond, OK27

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. LWD measured modulus, density and dynamic modulus at test locations on	
base layer	3
Table 2. LWD measured modulus, density and dynamic modulus at test locations on	
Surface Layer	5
Table 3. LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the asphalt	
base on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK27	1
Table 4. LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on second	
asphalt layer on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK22	2
Table 5. LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the surface	ļ
layer on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK23	3

#### **1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The evaluation of the degree and uniformity of compaction is an important part in the Quality Assurance of asphalt pavements during their construction. Traditionally, acceptance quality testing of the asphalt pavements involved the use of spot testing of the density in conjunction with statistical methods. These methods are time consuming, and usually destructive in nature. In recent years, the mechanistic-empirical design techniques have been proposed for the design and analysis of pavements and their long term performance. The National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Project I-37A (AASHTO, 2002) recommends the use of dynamic modulus to characterize the performance of HMA mixes. With the increased emphasis on the new mechanistic-empirical (M-E)-based design procedures, predictive equations have been developed to estimate dynamic modulus of HMA layers as a function of such properties as mix type, aggregate structure, binder specifications, volumetric properties of compacted specimens, and mix temperature. However, the stiffness of the pavement layer is seldom measured during the construction process or during acceptance testing.

Falling Weight Deflectometers (FWDs) have been used for several years for evaluating the modulii of pavement layers and to assess the remediation/rehabilitation requirements of the pavement. However, the use of this device in evaluating the quality of newly constructed pavements is infeasible from a cost and logistics point of view. Thus, there is a need to determine the feasibility of using portable Lightweight Deflectometers (LWD) to evaluate the modulii of the pavement layers after their construction. LWDs use a lower load and a shorter load pulse duration as compared to FWDs and are ideally suitable for the structural evaluation of single pavement layers. LWDs could serve as a cost effective, non-destructive, in-situ test method for the evaluation of the mechanistic properties of the pavement and help bridge the gap between the design and the construction of the pavements.

The use of Zorn ZFG-3000 LWD in the in-situ assessment of pavement quality was investigated in this research. Two full-depth construction sites were identified and the performance of the LWD device in measuring the stiffness of base asphalt layer was studied at each of these sites. The performance of the LWD in measuring the stiffness

Х

of asphalt layers constructed on top of the base layer at each of these sites was also studied. The following are the key observations from the results of the study.

- A. The Zorn ZFG-3000 LWD device is easy to set up and operate. It is light weight and portable and can be operated by a single operator.
- B. The Zorn ZFG-3000 LWD is able to determine the general trends in increasing/decreasing stiffness of the asphalt pavement layer. The built-in software takes into account the surface temperature of the asphalt mat and provides modulus values predicted at 20<sup>°</sup> C (20 degrees Celsius).
- C. In all the tests conducted, the researchers found very little correlation between the LWD measured modulus and the density of the asphalt mat at the test locations as determined from roadway cores.
- D. In all the tests conducted, the researchers found very little correlation between the LWD measured modulus and the dynamic modulus of the pavement at the test locations as determined from the density and the dynamic modulus master curves developed through laboratory tests.
- E. The correlation between the LWD estimated modulus and the density of the asphalt mat did not appear to depend on any pavement parameters such as mix type and gradation, lift thickness, and asphalt layer.

Based on these finding, it can be concluded that the Zorn ZFC-3000 LWD is not suitable for measuring the stiffness of asphalt pavements and for use in Quality Assurance of pavements.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Stiffness is a key design factor that directly impacts the load bearing capacity of roadway pavements. Early deterioration of pavements due to rutting, fatigue cracking, and other types of distresses may be attributed to inadequate stiffness achieved during the compaction process (Pellinen and Witczak, 2002). The stiffness of the pavement is typically expressed in terms of its modulus, i.e., the relationship between the applied stress and the resulting deformation. While there are several ways to define the stiffness of a HMA layer, the dynamic modulus ( $|E^*|$ ) of hot-mix asphalt (HMA) is selected as one of the fundamental inputs in the mechanistic-empirical pavement design guide (MEPDG) [NCHRP Project 1-37A]. The National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Project I-37A recommends the use of dynamic modulus to characterize the HMA mixes (AASHTO, 2002).

Failure to achieve the desired stiffness during the construction of the pavement is a leading cause for the early degradation of asphalt pavements. Excessive rutting, cracking, potholes etc., that are signs of failure of asphalt pavements can be avoided by using good quality control tools during the compaction process and through the adoption of better construction practices. Unfortunately, the stiffness of a pavement is seldom measured during its construction. Instead, the current quality control (QC) methods focus on the measurement of the density of the finished pavement at specific locations. The most reliable method of measuring pavement density is the extraction of cores at several locations on the finished pavement and conducting air voids tests in the laboratory as specified in AASHTO T 269-97 (AASHTO, 2003). This method of testing, however, is time consuming, costly, and destructive. Alternative methods for in-place measurement of density of hot mix asphalt (HMA) layers include the use of both nuclear density gauges and non-nuclear density gauges. The nuclear-based devices tend to have problems associated with licensing, equipment handling, and storage. In addition, both these technologies allow only point-wise measurements of density during the construction of an asphalt pavement. These manual processes of measurement are time consuming and result in unavoidable delays in the construction while not reflecting the overall quality of the pavement.

1

#### 2.1 Related studies in mechanistic properties of pavements

In-situ testing of mechanical properties of pavements and underlying subgrade soils is a widely researched area. Several test devices such as the Benkelman Beam, Lacroix Deflectograph, static plate loading test, and FWD are available for nondestructive evaluation of asphalt pavements (Newcomb and Birgisson, 1999; Tayabji and Lukanen, 2000). More recently, the rolling weight deflectometer, spectral analysis of surface waves, and the Humboldt stiffness gauge have also been used to measure in-situ stiffness of pavement layers including subgrade (Newcomb and Birgisson, 1999; Navaratnarajah, 2006). However, these test methods are time consuming, and costly. Therefore, their use has been limited to the evaluation of the quality of existing pavements where only a few infrequent measurements are required.

With the increased emphasis on the new mechanistic-empirical (M-E)-based design procedures, predictive equations have been developed to estimate dynamic modulus of HMA layers as a function of mix type, aggregate structure, binder specifications, volumetric properties of compacted specimens, and mix temperature etc. (Andrei et al. 2002; Ayres et al., 1998; Crovetti et al. 2005; Katicha, 2003; Tarefder, 2003;). While these tests are adequate to study the properties of the asphalt mix in the laboratory, they too are not suitable for determining the stiffness of the pavement during its construction.

The need of measuring the stiffness of a pavement during construction has motivated the industry and equipment manufacturers to develop technologies that can ensure consistent and optimal compaction of HMA pavements (Camargo et al. 2006; Landers, 2006; Moore 2006; Peterson 2005). Uniform compaction of both soil and aggregate bases is achieved through the variation of machine parameters such as amplitude and frequency of vibrations, and vectoring of the thrust. Dynamic control of machine parameters allows the application of the vibratory energy only to undercompacted areas and thereby preventing over-compaction and ensuring uniform compaction of subgrade soils and/or aggregate bases. While these intelligent compaction (IC) techniques hold promise, their performance is being evaluated by

2

several Departments of Transportations (DOTs) and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) (FHWA, 2009).

In contrast to the aforementioned intelligent compaction (IC) technologies (Ammann, Asphalt Manager, Caterpillar, Asphalt Compaction, Sakai) the Intelligent Asphalt Compaction Analyzer (IACA) (Commuri et al. 2008; Commuri et al. 2009a; Commuri et al. 2009b, Commuri and Zaman, 2010) is a measurement tool that analyzes, in real time, the vibrations of a vibratory compactor to estimate the level of compaction of a HMA mat or layer during construction. Use of IACA to estimate the density of asphalt pavements during construction was demonstrated during actual construction of asphalt pavements (Commuri, 2011). In the research funded by Oklahoma Transportation Center (OTCREOS7.1-10, October 2008 - June 2010) and Volvo Construction Equipment (VCE) the ability of the IACA to accurately measure the stiffness of the pavement was demonstrated. During this research, the IACA estimates were verified using Falling Weight Deflectometer (FWD) tests on the completed pavement. While the FWD tests demonstrated the power of the IACA, conducting FWD tests at each construction site is not cost effective and will ultimately lead to difficulties in adopting IC technologies. Thus, there is a need to develop test methods and procedures for the rapid testing of the stiffness of pavement layers using inexpensive, portable, lightweight tools.

#### 2.2 Background on the Lightweight Deflectometers

Light Weight Deflectometers (LWDs) are non-destructive testing tools used to measure the stiffness (modulus) of a pavement layer or a surface. LWDs are an alternative to static plate bearing tests and are finding more application during pavement construction due to their small foot print, portability, and the short time required for conducting each test. The LWD consists of a fixed weight that is dropped onto the pavement surface from a fixed height through a loading plate. The resulting deflection of the surface is measured either through the use of geophones or accelerometers and is used to determine 'stiffness' or the '**Surface Modulus**' of the pavement layer. There are three commonly used LWD apparatus worldwide – ZFG2000 manufactured by Zorn Instruments, Germany; LWD 3031 manufactured by Dynatest International; and the PRIMA100 manufactured by Cooper Industries, United Kingdom. <u>The ZFG2000A and</u> the associated software ZFG3000 are specifically designed for the evaluation of the surface modulus of asphalt pavement and is the focus of this research.



Figure 1. Zorn ZFG2000A asphalt tester (Zorn, 2011)

The Zorn ZFG3000 system is shown in Figure 1 and the essential components of the LWD are shown in Figure 2. The LWD drops a weight of 15 Kg from a height of 700 mm onto a loading plate. The deflection caused by the 12 mm diameter pin on the surface is measured using an accelerometer. Assuming that a constant peak force is imparted on impact, the ZFG3000 system calculates the deformation modulus of the pavement surface. It is assumed that a peak force of 10.6kN is imparted and the resulting pulse is of 17 ms duration. The modulus of the pavement at 20<sup>o</sup>C is then calculated as

 $E_{20^{0}C} = (0.055 / s_{\infty})^{0.07(T-20^{0}C)}$ , where  $s_{\infty}$  is the measured deflection and T is the temperature of the pavement surface at the time of measurement.



Figure 2. Components of the LWD (Zorn, 2011)

#### 2.3 Prior research on the use of LWDs for assessing pavement layers

Over the past two decades, several researchers have explored the use of LWDs in assessing the mechanistic properties of soil and aggregate bases and unbound material (Senseney and Mooney, 2010; Hossain, and Apeagyei, 2010). The results, while showing good correlation to the stiffness of the pavement layers', were not very encouraging and had high variability compared to FWD measurements (Hossain, and Apeagyei, 2010). The low peak impact forces associated with the LWDs were found to be insufficient to capture the properties of all the pavement layers. As a result, the back calculated modulus (Hossain et. al. 1992) based on layer information showed excessive

variability compared to FWD test data. Fleming et. al., (2007) concluded that prior to the use of LWDs, site specific data must be factored into the LWD measurements and correlation factors have to developed to minimize the deviations from FWD measurements. Further, the seating on the LWD device and the test protocol has to be standardized to reduce variations from one test location to another (Edwards and Fleming, 2009). These issues were supposed to have been addressed in the ZFG3000 LWD and its associated software. In this research, the researchers attempt to verify the stiffness of asphalt pavement layers measured by this LWD and determine its usability in the quality assurance of asphalt pavements.

#### 3. GOALS OF THE PROPOSED RESEARCH

The main goals of the study presented in this report are as follows:

- a) Study the ease of use and accuracy of the Zorn ZFG-3000 Lightweight Deflectometer in determining the stiffness of asphalt pavement layers after construction,
- b) Study the ability of the ZFG-3000 LWD to capture trends in the stiffness along the length of the asphalt pavement.
- c) Study the stiffness reported by the ZFG-3000 in relation to the pavement density as determined by roadway cores extracted at the test location.
- d) Study the effect of pavement layer and mix parameters on the modulus values reported by the LWD.
- e) Study the effect of the underlying pavement layers on the modulus reported by the LWD device by comparing the LWD modulus with the modulus backcalculated from Falling Weight Deflectometer (FWD) tests.

In order to address these goals, two sites of full depth asphalt pavement construction will be identified. At each of these sites, test locations will be marked on top of the compacted base layer and stiffness measurements reported by the LWD will be recorded. Roadway cores will then be extracted and their density will be measured in the laboratory in accordance with the AASHTO TP-62 test procedure. Virgin asphalt mix will also be collected from the site and the dynamic modulus tests will be conducted to develop the master curves for the mix. The density information obtained from the cores and the Master Curves will then be used to predict the dynamic modulus at the test locations. Correlation between the LWD modulus and the density as well as the dynamic modulus will be studied to determine the effectiveness of the ZFG3000 LWD to estimate the stiffness of the pavement layer. In similar manner, the effectiveness of the base layer at these two sites. The correlation obtained for each layer will then be compared to

determine if the layer parameters such as mix gradation, layer thickness, influence the ability of the LWD to accurately measure the modulus of the layer. During these tests, the portability and ease of use will also be documented.

#### 4. RESULTS OF THE RESEARCH PROJECT

#### 4.1 Site Selection

Two full-depth construction sites were selected to evaluate the functioning of the ZFG3000 LWD on the base asphalt layer constructed on top of the prepared subgrade. The use of the LWD for measuring the stiffness during the construction of asphalt layers on top of the base layer was also studied at these two sites. Site specific details such as location, number of asphalt layers, layer thickness, and asphalt mix parameters, binder type are detailed in the following sections.

#### 60<sup>th</sup> Street, Norman, OK

The utility of the LWD in determining the stiffness of asphalt layers was investigated during the construction of 1 mile (4 lanes) of full-depth asphalt pavement on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK (State Project STP-155B(813)AG). The subgrade was stabilized with 10% Cement Kiln Dust (CKD) to a depth of 203.2 mm (8 inches) and compacted using an Ingersoll Rand SD-100 vibratory compactor. A base layer of 88.9 mm (3.5 inch) thickness was first compacted on top of the prepared subgrade using a 19 mm (3/4 inch) S3 PG 64-22OK asphalt mix. The mix contained with approximately 30 percent 1 inch (25 mm) rock, 10 percent 5/8 inch chips, 25 percent C-33 screenings, 10 percent sand, and 25 percent fine Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement (RAP), with 4.1 percent PG 64-22 OK binder. A second 88.9 mm (3.5 inch) thick layer was then compacted on top of the base layer using a 19 mm (3/4 inch) S3 PG 76-28OK asphalt mix. This mix comprises of approximately 30 percent 1 inch (25 mm) rock, 10 percent 1 inch (25 mm) rock, 15 percent 5/8 inch chips, 30 percent 5/8 inch chips, 30 percent 7-33 screenings, 10 percent 9 mm (3/4 inch) S3 PG 76-28OK asphalt mix. This mix comprises of approximately 30 percent 1 inch (25 mm) rock, 15 percent 5/8 inch chips, 30 percent C-33 screenings, 10 percent 9 mm (3/4 inch) S3 PG 76-28 OK binder.

The GPS coordinates and the test data were recorded at each of these locations. Roadway cores were also extracted at select locations to determine the density of the pavement. The asphalt pavement was compacted using Hamm HD90 vibratory compactor equipped with OU Intelligent Asphalt Compaction Analyzer (IACA).

9

#### Apple Valley, Oklahoma City, OK

The second site selected for this project was located in Apple Valley, Edmond, OK. A 0.7-mile (2 lanes) long full-depth asphalt pavement was constructed on Apple Valley Road (State Project STP-155B (813) AG). The subgrade was first stabilized by mixing 10% CKD to a depth of 304.8 mm (12 inches) and then compacting it using an Ingersoll-Rand SD-100 vibratory compactor. A 76.5 mm (3 inch) thick base layer was first compacted on top of the prepared subgrade using a 19 mm (3/4 inch) S3 PG 70-28OK asphalt mix. The mix contained approximately 26 percent 1 inch (25 mm) rock, 25 percent manufactured sand, 22 percent screenings, 12 percent sand, and 15 percent RAP, with 4.3 percent PG 70-28 OK binder. A second 76.5 mm (3 inch) thick base layer was then compacted on top of the base layer using the same mix. A final 50.8 mm (2 inch) thick surface course was then compacted atop of the intermediate layer using a S4 PG70-28OK mix. This mix contained approximately 35 percent 5/8 inch (15.6 mm) chips, 25 percent manufactured sand, 13 percent C-33 screenings,12 percent screenings, and 15 percent was due to the second provide the theorem percent percent was compacted using an Ingersoll Rand DD118HFA.

#### 4.2 Initial Demonstration

The LWD was initially tested during the construction of an asphalt overlay on Hefner Road in Edmond, OK. The mix and the pavement design at this site were similar to the base layer in the Apple Valley Project. Several test locations were marked on top of the asphalt base (Figure 3) and LWD readings were taken at these locations. The LWD readings were then compared with the density of cores extracted from these locations. It was discovered during these tests that incorrect assembly of the device prevented the processing of the collected data. The research team then contacted the manufacturing company, Zorn for assistance in data collection and analysis. An expert team from Zorn visited OU in September 2011 to reassemble the device and train the research staff in the use of the LWD device. After initial training, the LWD was found to be easily transportable to the site and easy to operate by a single individual (Figure 4).



Figure 3. Representative LWD test locations at Apple Valley Road Project in Edmond, OK.



Figure 4. LWD Testing in progress at Apple Valley Road Project in Edmond, OK

#### 4.3 Results from Tests on 60th Street in Norman, OK

The ability of the Zorn ZFG3000 LWD to ascertain the stiffness of asphalt pavement layers was studied during the construction of a full-depth asphalt pavement at the 60th street in Norman, OK. After the soil subgrade was stabilized and compacted, asphalt mix of Nominal Maximum Aggregate size (NMA) of 19 mm was placed to a thickness of 88.9mm and compacted using a dual steel drum vibratory compactor. After the construction of the full-depth asphalt layer at this project, test locations were marked 3 meters apart along the center line of the pavement. GPS readings of these locations were noted and the pavement density was also recorded using a Humboldt Nuclear Density Gauge. After the pavement had cooled down to ambient temperature, LWD tests were conducted at the test locations and the LWD modulus at the ambient

temperature as well as at 20<sup>°</sup>C were recorded. Cores were extracted at the test locations and the density of the cores was determined in the laboratory in accordance with the AASHTO T-166 method. Virgin mix was also collected from the site and the dynamic modulus master curves were developed in accordance with the AASHTO TP-62 test procedure. The densities of the cores were used in conjunction with the master curves to estimate the dynamic modulus of the asphalt pavement at the test location. The data collected during these tests is shown in Table 1. LWD tests were also conducted on the surface layer that was constructed atop the base. Table 2 presents the corresponding test results.

LWD measured modulus and the density measured from cores extracted from the test locations for the base layer is shown in Figure 5. It can be seen that there LWD readings follow a similar trend as the density measurements at the test locations. However, it can be seen in Figure 6 that the correlation between the actual density measured from the cores and the pavement stiffness determined by the LWD is very poor ( $R^2 = 0.003$ ). In case of surface layer, no clear trend between density and LWD modulus was observed (Figure 7). Further, Figure 8 shows that very little correlation ( $R^2 = 0.07$ ) exists between the density measured from the cores and the LWD modulus reported at the corresponding test locations. Comparison of the LWD measured modulus at each of the test locations on the first and second asphalt layers (Figure 9) does not indicate any clear pattern. This could be due to the fact that the properties of the two layers are not uniform at all test locations. Therefore, no conclusions can be drawn regarding the effect of base on the overlay as seen from LWD measurements.

The comparison between LWD measured stiffness and the dynamic modulus that was determined from the master curves is shown in Figures 10 and 11. Once again, no appreciable correlation was found between the LWD measured modulus and the dynamic modulus at the test locations for either the base layer or for the surface layer.

Table 1. LWD measured modulus, density and dynamic modulus at test location	S
on base layer.	

60th Street, Norman (88.9mm thick, 19mm S3 PG64-22OK)						
Test Location	Density (% MTD)	Estimated Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C and 10Hz	LWD Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C			
L1S4C2	91.3	6387	7093			
L1S4C1	93.4	8063	2458			
C4	92.4	7372	5934			
C5	92.7	9140	4259			
C6	92.9	9140	5035			
L2S2C1	92.1	6387	5258			
L2S2C2	93.4	9645	3778			
L2S2C3	92.7	7991	3654			
L1S3C2	92.1	7306	2493			
L1S3C3	91.8	7306	5282.5			
L1S2C3	91.3	7306	3212			
C1	91.6	4192	3147.5			
C2	91.9	4795	3549.5			
C3	91.4	8432	3589.5			
L1S2C1	91.6	6330	4203			
L1S1C3	93.4	6218	3899.5			
L1S1C2	94.6	5485	5702.5			
L1S2C1	91.6	5534	3297.5			
L1S1C1	93.4	4926	3214.5			
L1S2C2	90.3	5893	2762			

Note: MTD- Maximum theoretical density.

Table 2.	LWD	measured	modulus,	density	and	dynamic	modulus	at test	locations	on
Surface	Layer									

60th Street, Norman (88.9mm thick, 19mm S3 PG76-28OK)				
Test Location	Density (%MTD)	Estimated Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C and 10Hz	LWD Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C	
C7	93.2	10271	4724	
C8	92.8	9501	3899	
C9	93	9802	6907	
L1S1C1	96.0	7448	4070	
L1S1C2	94.3	6718	3149	
L1S3C3	96.2	10703	9364	
L1S4C1	92.6	10175	3765	
L1S4C2	93.8	12724	1766	
L2S1C1	95.6	8467	13945	
L1S1C3	95.8	7595	4043	
L1S2C1	94.6	8067	3734	
L1S3C2	94.3	10779	4410	
L1S4C3	93.4	7729	10945	
L2S1C2	95.4	6671	3841	
L2S1C3	95.2	7291	3724	
L1S2C2	92.1	9050	3015	
L1S2C3	93.7	10812	3896	
L1S3C1	95.5	11255	5624	

Note: MTD- Maximum theoretical density.



Figure 5. Density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.



Figure 6. Comparison of roadway density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK



Figure 7. Density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on second layer of asphalt pavement on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK



Figure 8. Comparison of roadway density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on second layer of asphalt pavement on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.







Figure 10. Comparison of LWD modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the asphalt base of 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.



Figure 11. Comparison of LWD modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on asphalt overlay on 60<sup>th</sup> street in Norman, OK.

#### 4.4 Results from Tests on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK

The ability of the Zorn ZFG3000 LWD to ascertain the stiffness of asphalt pavement layers was also studied during the construction of a full-depth asphalt pavement at the Apple Valley Project in Edmond, OK. After the soil subgrade was stabilized and compacted, asphalt mix of Nominal Maximum Aggregate size (NMA) of 19 mm was placed to a thickness of 76.5mm and compacted using a dual steel drum vibratory compactor. Similar to the process described in the previous section, test locations were selected and NDG and GPS readings were recorded at these locations. After the pavement had cooled down to ambient temperature, LWD tests were conducted at the test locations and the LWD modulus at the ambient temperature as well as at 20°C were recorded. Cores were extracted at the test locations and the density of the cores was determined in the laboratory in accordance with the AASHTO T-166 method. Virgin mix was also collected from the site and the dynamic modulus master curves were developed in accordance with the AASHTO TP-62 test procedure. The densities of the cores were used in conjunction with the master curves to estimate the dynamic modulus of the asphalt pavement at the test location. The data collected during these tests are shown in Table 3. The same test procedure was also followed for the construction of two asphalt layers at this site as described in section 4.1 and the corresponding data is shown in Tables 4 and 5.

LWD measured modulus and the density measured from cores extracted from the test locations for the base layer is shown in Figure 12. It can be seen that there that there is very little correlation ( $R^2 \sim 0.2$ ) between the actual density measured from the cores and the pavement stiffness determined by the LWD. Similarly, no clear correlation between density and LWD modulus was observed in asphalt layers atop the base layer at this site (Figures 14 and 16). The comparison between LWD measured stiffness and the dynamic modulus that was determined from the master curves is shown in Figures 13, 15, and 17. Once again, no appreciable correlation was found between the LWD measured modulus and the dynamic modulus at the test locations for any of the asphalt layers.

20

Apple Valley (76.5mm thick, 19mm S3 PG70-28OK)				
Points	Direction	Density (%)	Estimated Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C and 10Hz	LWD Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C
M1		92.5	5854	1743
M2		92.7	5918	3009
M3		92.4	5803	1810
M4	East Bound	91.7	5531	1810
M5		91.7	5544	1658
M6		91.0	5244	1683
C1		92.1	5674	1593
C2		93.6	6276	1549
C3		92.5	5841	1408
393+00		92.6	5873	1558
400+93		92.2	5726	1664
441+51		93.5	6228	1557
M7	West Bound	92.7	5943	2685
M8		93.5	6240	2506
M9		93.0	6056	2479
M10		93.8	6336	2481
M11		92.3	5764	1343
M12		90.8	5179	1315
383+00		94.9	6732	2227

Table 3. LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the asphalt base on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.

Apple Valley (76.5mm thick, 19mm S3 PG70-28OK)				
Points	Direction	Density (%)	Estimated Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C and 10Hz	LWD Modulus (Mpa) at 20°C
M1		95.4	6885	2965
M2		93.1	6069	2450
M3		94.5	6596	1731
M4		91.5	5440	1778
M5		94.6	6639	3919
M6		92.2	5739	2660
C1		93.1	6081	1062
C2		93.0	6056	2432
C3	Foot Dound	93.4	6204	2116
393+00	East Bound	93.8	6336	1916
400+93		94.2	6508	1804
441+51		NA	NA	NA
C4		92.7	5918	1879
C5		93.7	6300	2884
C6		93.3	6143	2604
387+07		96.5	7137	2732
393+17		95.4	6876	2371
414+61		94.5	6610	1932
M7		93.9	6371	1431
M8		95.0	6752	1934
M9	West	94.2	6486	1589
M10		94.6	6639	1453
M11		94.3	6530	1651
M12	Bound	94.0	6433	1601
383+00		NA	NA	NA
400+61		94.7	6653	2456
400+41	1	94.4	6560	2367
392+20		93.0	6044	2610

Table 4. LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on second asphalt layer on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.

Apple Valley (50.8mm thick, 12.5mm, S4 PG70-28OK)				
			Estimated	
Deinte	Direction	Density	Modulus (Mpa)	
Points	Direction	(%)	at 20°C and	
			10Hz	(Mpa) at 20°C
M1		91.9	4605	1519
M2		93.1	5016	2205
M3		92.7	4866	1567
M4		91.3	4419	1424
M5		92.9	4952	1854
M6		94.0	5277	1650
C1		91.9	4605	1651
C2		93.1	5005	1280
C3		93.1	5016	1289
393+00		93.6	5174	1492
400+93		93.6	5153	1682
441+51	Eact	NA	NA	NA
C4	Bound	93.0	4963	1508
C5	Dound	92.1	4659	1452
C6		92.4	4779	1279
387+07		NA	NA	NA
393+17		93.3	5069	828
414+61		NA	NA	1919
C7		91.3	4408	1272
C8		92.4	4768	1294
C9		92.0	4648	1250
412+86		93.7	5195	1573
400+61		94.2	5368	1641
397+00		93.8	5219	1443
357+96		NA	NA	
M7		90.5	4147	1769
M8		89.2	3712	1571
M9		90.3	4082	1839
M10	West Bound	90.8	4223	1570
M11		92.0	4648	1524
M12		93.6	5164	1450
383+00		NA	NA	1934
400+61		NA	NA	1641
400+41		94.3	5388	1600
392+20		91.7	4528	1906
414+61		92.7	4855	
404+50		94.7	5514	2070
388+00		92.2	4703	1934
381+00		92.9	4952	1469
363+82		93.1	5005	2664

Table 5. LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on the surface layer on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.



Figure 12. Comparison between roadway core density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.



Figure 13. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.



Figure 14. Comparison between roadway core density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on base layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.



Figure 15. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on second layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.



Figure 16. Comparison between roadway density and LWD measured modulus at test locations on surface layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.





Figure 17. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and dynamic modulus at test locations on surface layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.

Figure 18. Comparison between LWD measured modulus and FWD backcalculated modulus at test locations on surface layer of asphalt pavement on Apple Valley Road in Edmond, OK.

#### 5. SUMMARY OF RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

The use of Zorn ZFG-3000 LWD in the in-situ assessment of pavement quality was investigated in this research. Two full-depth construction sites were identified and the performance of the LWD device in measuring the stiffness of base asphalt layer was studied at each of these sites. The performance of the LWD in measuring the stiffness of asphalt layers at each of these sites was also studied. The following are the key observations from the results of the study.

- A. The Zorn ZFG-3000 LWD device is easy to set up and operate. It is light weight and portable and can be operated by a single operator.
- B. The Zorn ZFG-3000 LWD is able to determine the general trends in increasing/decreasing stiffness of the asphalt pavement layer. The built-in software takes into account the surface temperature of the asphalt mat and provides modulus values predicted at 20<sup>0</sup> C.
- C. In all the tests conducted, the researchers found very little correlation between the LWD measured modulus and the density of the asphalt mat at the test locations as determined from roadway cores. The coefficient of correlation, R<sup>2</sup> was less than 0.1 in most of the cases studied in this research.
- D. In all the tests conducted, the researchers found insignificant correlation between the LWD measured modulus and the dynamic modulus of the pavement at the test locations as determined from the density and the dynamic modulus master curves developed through laboratory tests. The correlation between LWD measured stiffness and the Dynamic Modulus values determined in the laboratory was slightly better for base asphalt layers ( $R^2 \sim 0.25$ -0.30) as compared to other layers. In case of intermediate and surface layers very poor correlation between LWD reported modulus and dynamic modulus ( $R^2 < 0.10$ ) was observed.
- E. The correlation between the LWD estimated modulus and the density of the asphalt mat did not appear to depend on any pavement parameters such as mix type and gradation, lift thickness, or asphalt layer. Very poor correlation was observed between pavement stiffness values backcalculated from Falling Weight

Deflectometer tests and the stiffness measured by the Zorn ZFG3000 LWD at the same test locations.

Based on these finding, it can be concluded that the Zorn ZFC-3000 LWD is not suitable for measuring the stiffness of asphalt pavements after construction and is not recommended for use in Quality Assurance of pavements.

#### 6. TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER SUCESSES

Volvo Construction Equipment (VCE) has partnered with OU in the development of Intelligent Compaction technologies and is committed to providing 51% of all the development costs pertaining to this technology. <u>Since 2008, VCE has contributed over</u> <u>\$1.2M towards royalty payments and for refining this technology</u>. This has also resulted in additional leveraged funding of \$831,119 over the same period. VCE is currently supporting the OU Research team in the systematic evaluation of the Intelligent Asphalt Compaction Analyzer (IACA) that was developed at OU for estimating the stiffness of asphalt pavements as well as the stiffness of modified soils and soil subgrades (OTCREOS 10.1-11: Real-time measurement of quality during the compaction of subgrade soils). VCE and OU are collaborating to introduce the IACA technology to the market in the near future.

#### 7. REFERENCES

- AASHTO (1993). AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures, American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), Washington, D.C.
- AASHTO (2002). Guide to the Mechanistic-Empirical Design of New and Rehabilitated Pavement Structures, NCHRP-1-37A, Washington, D.C. <u>http://www.trb.org/mepdg/guide.htm</u> (last accessed 3/10/2008).
- AASHTO (2003). American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO): Standard Method of Test for Percent Air Voids in Compacted Dense and Open Asphalt Mixtures: T 269-97, 2003.
- AASHTO (2006). American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO): Standard Method of Test for Determining Dynamic Modulus of Hot-Mix Asphalt Concrete Mixtures: TP62-03, AASHTO Provisional Standards, 2006.
- AASHTO T-166 (1999). Bulk Specific Gravity of Compacted asphalt Mixtures using Saturated Surface-dry Specimens. AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures, American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), Washington, D.C.
- AASHTO TP 62-03 (2005). Standard Method of Test for Determining Dynamic Modulus of Hot-Mix Asphalt Concrete Mixtures. AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures, American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), Washington, D.C.
- Abdallah, I., Yuan, D., and Nazarian, S. (2001). Integrating Seismic and Deflection Methods to Estimate Pavement Moduli. *Journal of Transportation Research Record, No. 1755*, pp. 43-50.
- Ammann Compaction Expert ACE, <u>http://www.ammann-america.com</u>, last accessed April 06, 2011.
- Andrei, D., Witczak, M.W., and Mirza, M. (2002). Development of Revised Predictive Model for the Dynamic Complex Modulus of Asphalt Mixtures, NCHRP 1-37A, Dept. of Civil Engineering, Univ. of Maryland, College Park, MD.

- 10. Asphalt Compaction Documentation, <u>http://www.geodynamik.com</u>, last accessed April 06, 2011.
- 11. Asphalt Manager, <u>http://www.bomag.com/americas/</u>, last accessed April 06, 2011.
- 12. Ayres, M. Jr., and Witczak. M.W. (1998). AYMA A Mechanistic Probabilistic System to Evaluate Flexible Pavement Performance, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 1629, Transportation Research Board of the National Academics, Washington, D.C., pp. 137-148.
- 13. Bonaquist, R., and Christensen, D.W. (2005). Practical Procedure for Developing Dynamic Modulus Master Curves for Pavement Structural Design." Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 1929, Transportation Research Board of the National Academics, Washington, D.C., pp. 208-217.
- 14. Camargo, F., Larsen, B., Chadbourn, B., Roberson, R., and Siekmeier, J. (2006). Intelligent Compaction: A Minnesota Case History, presented at the 54th Annual University of Minnesota Geotechnical Conference.
- 15. Caterpillar, <u>http://www.cat.com/cda/layout?m=221722&x=7&id=927320</u>, last accessed April 06, 2011.
- Commuri, S., and Zaman, M. (2008). A Novel Neural Network-Based Asphalt Compaction Analyzer, International Journal of Pavement Engineering, vol. 9, No.3, pp. 177-188.
- 17.Commuri, S., Mai, A., and Zaman, M. (2009a). Calibration Procedures for the Intelligent Asphalt Compaction Analyze." ASTM Journal of Testing and Evaluation, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 454-462.
- 18. Commuri, S., Mai, A., and Zaman, M. (2009b). Neural Network-based Intelligent Compaction Analyzer for Estimating Compaction Quality of Hot Asphalt Mixes." ASCE Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, (to appear 2011).
- 19. Commuri, S., and Zaman, M. (2010). "Method and apparatus for predicting the density of asphalt," USPTO, 7,669,458.
- 20. Commuri, S. (2011). Final report for assistance agreement DTFH61-08-G-0002. Federal Highway Administration, Highways for LIFE Technology Partnerships Program, Washington, DC.

- 21.Crovetti, J., Hall, K.T., and Williams, C. (2005). Development of Modulus to Temperature Relations for HMA Mixtures Used in Wisconsin, Final Report, Wisconsin Highway Research Program # 0092-03-14, Wisconsin Department of Transportation.
- 22. Edwards, P., and Fleming, P. (2009). LWD Good practice guide. <u>http://www-staff.lboro.ac.uk/~cvmwf/GPG.pdf</u> last accessed on April 12, 2011.
- 23. FHWA (2009). Accelerated Implementation of Intelligent Compaction Technologies for Embankment Subgrade Soils, Aggregate Bases, and Asphalt Materials, US FHWA Research Project DTFH61-07-C-R0032. <a href="http://www.intelligentcompaction.com">http://www.intelligentcompaction.com</a>, last accessed April 06, 2011.
- 24. Fleming, P.R., Frost, M.W., and Lambert, J.P., 2007. A review of the lightweight deflectometer (LWD) for reoutine insitu assessment of pavement material stiffness. Journal of the Transportation Research Board, Washington, D.C. pp. 80-87.
- 25. Gedafa, D.S., Hossain, M., Romanoschi, S.A., and Gisi, A.J. (2010). Comparison of Moduli of Kansas Superpave Asphalt Mixes. 89<sup>th</sup> Annual Transportation Research Board Meeting, Washington, D.C.
- 26. Hossain, M., and Scofield, L. (1992). Correlation Between Backcalculated and Laboratory-Determined Asphalt Concrete Moduli. *Journal of Transportation Research Record*, No. 1377, pp. 67-76.
- 27. Hossain, S.M., Apeagyei, A.K. (2010). Evaluation of the Lightweight deflectometer for in-situ determination of pavement layer moduli. Report no. FHWA/VTRC 10-R6, Federal Highway Administration, Washington D.C.
- 28.Katicha, S.W. (2003). Development of Laboratory to Field Shift Factors for Hot Mix Aspahlt Resilient Modulus, M.S. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, VA.
- 29. Landers, K. (2006). The World of Smart Compaction Systems, Better Roads, Vol.76, No. 10, pp. 56-59.
- 30.Loulizi, A., Al-Qadi, I.L., Lahouar, S., and Freeman, T. (2002). Measurement of Vertical Compressive Stress Pulse in Flexible Pavements and Its Representation for Dynamic Loading. Presented at the Transportation Research Board 81<sup>st</sup> Annual Meetings Paper # 02-2376, Washington, D.C., pp. 1-21.

- 31. Moore, W. (2006). Intelligent Compaction: Outsmarting Soil and Asphalt, Construction Equipment, vol. 4, pp. 39 48.
- 32. Navaratnarajah, S.K. (2006). "Performance Characteristics of Selected Asphalt Mixes: A Laboratory and Field Study," Thesis submitted to the School of Civil Engineering and Environmental Science, University of Oklahoma, Norman, Oklahoma.
- 33.Newcomb, D., and Birgisson, B. (1999). Methods for Measuring In Situ Subgrade Mechanical Properties of Pavement Subgrade Soils, NCHRP Synthesis 278, Transportation Research Board, pages 24-42.
- 34. Odemark, N. (1949) Investigations as to the Elastic Properties of Soils Design of Pavement According to the Theory of Elasticity. Staten Vaeginstitut, Stockholm, Sweden.
- 35. Pellinen, T.K., and Witczak, M.W. (2002). Use of Stiffness of Hot-Mix Asphalt as a Simple Performance Test, *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, No. 1789, Transportation Research Board of the National Academics, Washington, D.C., pp. 80-90.
- 36. Peterson, D. L. (2005). Continuous Compaction Control, Mn-ROAD Demonstration, Report: MN/RC – 2005-07, submitted to Federal Highway Administration, St. Paul, MN.
- 37. Sakai, http://www.sakaiamerica.com/index.dws, last accessed April 06, 2011.
- 38. Senseney, C.T., and Mooney, M.A. (2010). Characterization of a two-layer soil system using a lightweight deflectometer with radial sensors, Journal of the Transportation Research Board, Washington, D.C. <u>http://control.mines.edu/mooney/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_downlo</u>

ad&gid=25&Itemid, last accessed April 12, 2011.

- 39. Scullion, T. (2007). Perpetual Pavements in Texas: The State of the Practice. Technical Report FHWA/TX-05/0-4822-1, Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, Texas.
- 40. Scullion, T., and Liu, W. (2003). Modulus 6.0 for Window: User's Manual. Technical Report 0-1869-2, TT, College Station, Texas.

- 41. Singh, D., Mai, A., Beainy, F., Commuri, S., and Zaman, M. (2010a). In situ measurement of stiffness during the construction of a HMA pavement. International Journal of Pavement Research and Technology, (accepted for publication)
- 42. Singh, D., Zaman, M., and Commuri, S. (2010b). "A predictive model for estimating dynamic modulus of asphalt mixes commonly used in Oklahoma." Journal of ASTM International, (under review).
- 43. Singh, D., Zaman, M., and Commuri, S. (2011a). "Evaluation of predictive models for estimating dynamic modulus of HMA mixes used in Oklahoma." Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (to appear).
- 44. Singh, D., Zaman, M., and Commuri, S. (2011b). "Effect of Long Term Oven Aging (LTOA) on Dynamic Modulus of Hot Mix Asphalt." GeoFrontiers, Dallas, TX, March 2011.
- 45. Tarefder, R.A. (2003). Laboratory and Model Prediction of Rutting in Asphalt Concrete. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Oklahoma, Norman, OK.
- 46. Tayabji, S., Lukanen, E. (2000). Nondestructive Testing of Pavements and Backcalculation of Modulii, ASTM STP 1375, ASTM International.
- 47.Zorn, (2011). Operating Instructions for the Light Drop-Weight Tester ZFG2000A, Zorn Instruments, Germany.